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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF IDAHO

WAVETRONIX LLC, an Idaho limited
liability company;David Arnold; and
Michael Jensen,

Plaintiffs, Case No. 4:12-cv-00244-BLW
V.
MEMORANDUM DECISION AND
Douglas Swenson, Conrad Myers, ORDER
individually but not in his capacity as
Trustee of the DBSI Liquidating Trust;
John D. Foster, Thomas Var Reeve,
Charles Hassard, Paul Judge, Gary
Bringhurst, Walter Mott, Jeremy Swensan,
John Mayeron, William Rich, and John
Does 1 through 20,

Defendants.

l. INTRODUCTION
The Court has before it a motion for sames filed by Defendants Conrad Myers
and William Rich (Dkt. 11). While Plaintiffgoluntarily dismisse their Complaint,
Defendants now seek sanctions against #ffsiiavid Arnold and Michael Jensen, in
addition to their attorney, BlakS. Atkin. For the reasons set forth below, the Court will
grant the motion.

Il. BACKGROUND
This case stems from the collepsf DBSI, Inc., a sprawling real estate investment

empire. DBSI was comprised of hundredsorporations and properties, but was
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controlled and successfully ran by Defemd@ouglas Swenson and his “cabal of
insiders” for many years. In 2008, during timidst of the economic downturn, various
DBSI entities filed for bankruptcy in the Digdt of Delaware. A @n of reorganization
was confirmed in October of 2010. The reorgation plan (“Plan”) created four trusts —
the DBSI Liquidating Trust, the DBSI Realtgte Liquidating Trust, the DBSI Estate
Litigation Trust, and the DBS?Private Actions Trust — armhlled for the appointment of
a trustee for each. Defendant Conrad Myeas appointed as thequidating Trustee for
the DBSI Liquidating TrustDefendant William Rich served as one of Myers’
professional advisors.
1. Resulting Litigation

Immediately following the Confirmation @fe Plan, on November 5, 2010, the
Trustee of the DBSI Estatatigation Trust and the DBS?Private Actions Trust, James
Zazzali, filed a RICO claim against Swensamal éhe other officers or directors of various
DBSI Companies (collectively, “DBSI InsidéjsZazzali's RICO comfaint is massive.
It sets forth in painstaking detail thetmge of a fraudulent scheme used to “bilk”
investors, which allegedly began to infect 8IBn approximately 2004. Stated in the
simplest terms possible, Zazzali’'s complateges that DBSI became detached from
“any rational economic moargs, and ultimately becanmething more than the
instrument of the Insiders’ elaborate pyramidPonzi’ scheme to defraud Investors.”
Litigation Trustee’s RICO Complain€ase No. 1:12-cv-00224JE-MHW, | 33, Dkt. 1.

Accepting the allegations of the complaintiag, it does appear that aspects of DBSI's
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investment model did resemble a Ponzi schemthat DBSI purportedly paid off old
investors by raising mogehrough new ones.

According to Myers and Rh, Plaintiff Wavetronix LLC was one of several
technology development companies thatddged from funds bilked from DBSI’s
investors. From 2001 through 2006, Wawgatk borrowed more #m $21 million dollars
from Stellar Technologies, LL& DBSI affiliate and Idaho-lsed company that invested
in technology-oriented startup companidfie loans, which weraccomplished through
transfers to Wavetronix from various DB& mpanies, were meorialized through
promissory notes, security agreements, @@donal guarantees made out to Stellar.
Plaintiff David Arnold, Wavetronixs CEO, signed the notes.

Wavetronix paints itself as a victim — rattthan a beneficiary — of DBSI’s alleged
fraud. In Wavetronix’'s version, the DBSI Idsirs set up Stellar as a straw company to
conduct their tax shelter business, and ttreated bogus notes, years after the fact, to
document these so-called “loans” from SteltaWVavetronix. Wavetronix maintains that
at first it did not know thathe DBSI Insiders had crezt these boguloans; but
eventually, they purportedlyullied Dr. Arnold into signinghe retroactive notes, which
he was told would never be enforcedrt. Brnold apparently had no authority under
Wavetronix’s operating agreement to exed¢htenotes because transactions with an
affiliate required consent of the Wavetnoiioard after full disclosure. Wavetronix
maintains that no one — neither borrower nadks — expected these notes to be repaid.
Instead, alleges Wavetronix, DBSI plannedise the invested funds to eventually take

over Wavetronix through tax fraud and the bogus debt.
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2. DBSI Bankruptcy

Before DBSI could leverag@e notes and their investmentWavetronix to wrest
control of the company, the economic crunclz@®7-2008 forced DBSI and its affiliate
companies into bankruptcy early November 2008. Two years later, on October 26,
2010, the Bankruptcy Court entered a Canétion Order confirming the Plan in the
Chapter 11 cases.

As the Liquidating Trustee, Myers is vesigith the rights, powers, and benefits
to liquidate and convert ¢éhtrust assets to casbee PlanArt. VI (M)(1)(f). To allow the
Liquidating Trustee to perform this functiand properly administer the trust without
distraction, impediment or disruptiongtilan, Trust Agreement, and Confirmation
Order protect the Liquidating Uistee from lawsuits. The Planjoins “Holders of Claims
against or Interests in a Plan Debtor’nrbcommencing or continuing in any manner,
directly or indirectly, any action or othproceeding against anyd®ected Party or any
property of any Protected Pgaftwhich is defined to inelde the Liquidating Trust, the
Liquidating Trustee, and his professional advs. Plan, Art. X1 (E) (“Plan Injunction”).
Likewise, the Plan protects “Exculpated Pa&'tie which is also defined to include the
Liguidating Trustee and his professional advisors — from “any liability for . . . any claim,
cause of action or liability . .to any other party . . . fong act or omission that occurred
during the Chapter 11 Cases . . . and/or tbegty to be distributed under the Plan or
the Trust . . . .'See PlanArt. XI (G). In addition, the Tust Agreement expressly protects
the Liquidating Trusteeral his professional advisbfrom personal liabilitySeeTrust

Agmt., 8§ 8.3 (“No recourse shall ever lied, directly or indirectly, against the
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Liquidating Trustee personally, or any . . of@ssional retained iaccordance with the
terms of this Agreement or the Plan . . . .")

3. Defendants’ Motion for Sanctions

On May 17, 2012, Wavetronix filed the @plaint in this matter, alleging RICO
violations against the DBSI InsidefSupp. Dec(Dkt. 14, § 3). In addition, the Complaint
included claims against Myers in his persargglacity “but not in s capacity as Trustee
of the DBSI Liquidating Trus’ and against Myers’ professional advisor, William Rich.
(Dkt. 11). Almost a week later, Wavettariiled a Motion for an Order Granting
Permission to Bring a Judiciélction Against Conrad Myseras Liquidating Trustee in
his Official Capacity in th®elaware Bankruptcy Coutgee Criswell DedDkt. 40-1,

1 4). This motion was ultimateljenied on Augst 2, 2012Supp. Dec(Dkt 14, Ex. B).
Additionally, the Bankruptcy Court ordered Waamix to withdraw with prejudice its
Complaint in this Courtd. Wavetronix has appealed this decisiSapp. Dec(Dkt. 14,
1 14). On August 3, 2012, Wavetronix dissed its Complaint filed in this Court,
without prejudice. (Dkt. 12).

With regard to the Defendants’ pendiMigtion for Sanctions, on July 3, 2012,
counsel for Defendants served Blake Atlkaaunsel for Wavetronix, a letter informing
him that the filing of the Complaint ithis Court likely violated Rule 1Bupp. Dec.

(Dkt. 14, § 7). Defendants included a drabtion for sanctions with the accompanying
letter.1d. Wavetronix neither responded to the letter, nor dised its Complaint within

the twenty-one day “safe Haor” provided in Rule 11id. at § 8.
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On July 31, 2012, Defendants filed the pending Motion for Sanctions. (Dkt. 11).
Pursuant to Rule 11, 28 81C. § 1927, and the Court’s inherent powers, Defendants
Myers and Rich ask this Court to imposad#ns against Plaintiffs David Arnold,
Michael Jensen, and theaittorney Blake Atkin.

1. RULE 11 SANCTIONS

Defendants argue that the Complaint isdlous and wholly lacking in both legal
basis and factual foundation. As such, Deéentd assert, Rule Khnctions should be
imposed. (Dkt. 11). Wavetronix objects and wgjs in part that Defendants’ Motion for
Sanctions itself is sanctionable under RuleRdsp(Dkt. 32, p. 51).

A. Standard of Law

Rule 11 sanctions may be imposedhen a motion is frivolous, legally
unreasonable, or without factual foundationijs brought with an improper purpose.”
Warren v. Guelker29 F.3d 1386, 138819 Cir. 1994). A filing is frivolous if it is “both
baseless and made without a mreable and competent inquirylownsend v. Holman
Consulting Corp.929 F.2d 1358, 1362 (9th Cif90) (en banc). The standard is
objective; it requires no bad faith or atherwise culpable state of mirdhambers v.
NASCO, Inc.501 U.S. 32, 46-48, (199I)pwnsend929 F.2d at 1362. The question is
whether the filing is “unreasonable wheewed from the perspective of a ‘competent
attorney admitted to practice before the district coukiapin v. U.S.118 F.R.D. 632,
635 (D.Hawai'i 1987)diting Zaldivar v. Los Angeleg80 F.2d 823, 8B(9th Cir.1986)

(abrogated on other grounds byater & Gell v. Hatmarx Corp496 U.S. 388 (1990)).
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Finally, Rule 11 sanctions may be imposed eaer a plaintiff voluntarily dismisses its
complaint.Cooter & Gell v. Hatmarx Corp496 U.S. 38,398 (1990).

B. Analysis

Myers and Rich contend that Wavetroniglfegations are without factual or legal
basis because they are insulated from liability for acts taken in their official capacities
under the Plan, Confirmation Order, andigirAgreement. (Dkt. 11, p. 16). The
Bankruptcy Court has confirmed that Vé&ronix’s Complaint violated the Plan
Injunction, and that Wavetronixas in contempt of its Coinfnation Order. (Dkt. 40-5, p.
9).

While the Bankruptcy Court's Memordnm Opinion was is®d after Wavetronix
filed its Complaint in this Court, a reasd&inquiry prior tdfiling would have led
Wavetronix to come to the same concludioat the Bankruptcy Court ultimately did.
The Plan’s language is plain: Holders@aims — which includes Wavetronix — are
enjoined from “commencing or continuingany manner, directlgr indirectly, any
action or other proceeding agsi any Protected Party amyaproperty of any Protected
Party,” which is defined to include the Ligaithg Trust, the Liquidating Trustee, and his
professional advisors. Plan, Art. XI (E).

Defendants are correct in asserting that the Complaint novimidyes express
terms of the Plan, but was also legally bes®under well-established law. As a general
rule, “a party must first obtain leave of thenkeuptcy court before ihitiates an action in
another forum against a bankruptcy trusteetber officer appointed by the bankruptcy

court for acts done in the officer’s official capacitin”re Crown Vantage421 F.3d 963,
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970 (9th Cir. 2005).This principle stems from Bertondoctrine, established Barton
v. Barbour where the Supreme Court held thabbe a suit can be brought against a
court-appointed receiver, leafrem the appointing court mube obtained104 U.S. 126
(1881). TheBartondoctrine applies not just to bankiay trustees, but to liquidating
trustees as welln re Crown Vantage421 F.3d at 973.
Wavetronixunpersuasivelattempted to plead around tBartondoctrine by
suing Myers in his “personal capacity and ndhimofficial capacity as the trustee of the
Liquidating Trust."Complaint(Dkt. 1, § 16). However, merely characterizing the suit as
“personal” does not change the fact thatdbgence of each of the allegations in the
Complaint revolve araud decisions that Myers madehis official capacity as
Liquidating Trustee. And, in fact, Wavetiantself cannot dispute that the allegations
made against Myers in his “personal capdaiye one and the same with those it sought
to bring against Myers in his official capty. To confirm this, one must only compare
Wavetronix’s Complaint to its Memorandumladw in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for
an Order Granting Permission to Bringualigial Action Against Conrad Myers, as
Liquidating Trustee in his Official Capacitipkt. 3-2, Exhibit A, p. 11-12) — a Motion
that was ultimately denied by the Bankruptcyu@oThe allegations in each are the same.
Both allege that Myers and Rich continubd fraudulent business practices of Stellar;
committed perjury, wire frauanoney laundering, and tax trd; and wrongfully sought
to enforce the promissonotes. (Dkt. 3-2, Exhibit A, pp. 11-12, 15-16) &&dmplaint

(Dkt. 1, 1 1 3, 201, 210).
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Wavetronix apparently tries to explainglaway, stating: “[u]nless this Complaint
is amended to add Myers in his official ceiyg allegations thaapply only to Myers in
his official capacity should not be construechasattempt to state a claim against Myers
in his official capacity, but as backgroufud other allegations of the Complaint.”
Complaint(Dkt. 1, n. 5). Thigs nonsensical—thenly allegations in the Complaint
against Myerare those against him in his official gacity. If they are construed as
merely “background,” there are sabstantive allegations left.

Wavetronix further contends thiie limited statutory exception to tBarton
doctrine, found at 28 U.S.C. § 959(a), appkeéd, thus, it was not required to seek leave
from the bankruptcy court before sgiMyers in his official capacityResp.(Dkt. 32, p.
17-24). This narrow exception applies onlyhé Liquidating Truste is “operating the
business” — it does not apply to suits againstees for liquidating the bankruptcy estate.
In re Crown Vantage421 F.3d at 971-972. To makethoint clearer, “actions taken in
the mere continuous administration of propentgler order of the court do not constitute
an ‘act’ or ‘transaction’ in carryingn business connected with the estdt.(citing
Muratore v. Darr, 375 F.3d 140, 144 (1st Cir. 2004)).

Wavetronix asserts that Myers and Raoglerated the business of Stellar in two
ways: 1) when Myers, “rather than liquidating ®tellar interest [. . .$tated his intention
to hold that interesintil [. . .] the object of the Stellar nepiracy [. . .] occurs”; and 2) by
continuing to operate Stetlas an illegal tax sheltdRespons€Dkt. 32, p. 18).
Wavetronix’s assertions are all fluff and substance. Both of ése allegations concern

actions taken in the administration of prager specifically, theStellar entity — under
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order of the Bankruptcy Court. As Defendapbint out, Myers, alsiquidating Trustee,

is well within his right to holdhe Liquidating Trust’s equitinterest in Stellar. After all,
the Plan provides that “[t]he Trustee, is/hier reasonable business judgment . . . shall
liquidate and convert to Cash the Trust Assetsunless the Trustee determines, in his
sole discretion, that retentiah any or all Trust Assets I&kely to result in increased
value of such Trust Asset(s) and is otheenisthe best interesbf the Holders of
Beneficial Interests.” (Dkt. 11, p. 19) cigrthe Plan, 8 VI(M)(f)(ii).Wavetronix failed to
allege a single instance of conduct that wiagthalify as “operating the business”; rather,
Myers was exercising his discretion in attem@tio liquidate the assets of the estate.
And as the Ninth Circuit has noted, “[t]hispsecisely the type of activity that tiBarton
doctrine was designed to protedn’re Crown Vantage421 F.3d at 972.

Because Wavetronix filed its Complaintdantravention of the plain language of
the Plan, and because in dpiso it attempted to artfy plead its way around well-
established law, the Court will grant Defamds’ motion for sanctions pursuant to its
authority under Rule 11.

VI. SANCTIONS PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. § 1927

A. Standard of Law

Section 1927 provides: “[a]rgttorney . . . who so miyplies the proceedings in
any case unreasonablydavexatiously may beequired by the court teatisfy personally
the excess costs, expenses, and attorfegs’reasonably incurred because of such
conduct.” 28 U.S.C. 8 1927. Additionally ] district court may choose to impose

sanctions under both Rule 11desection 1927; the courfiedings under Rule 11 have
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no legally binding effect upon that court'sldp to impose sanctions under section
1927.”Blumberg v. Gatesl52 F. App’x 652, 653 (9t@ir. 2005). However, “[o]nly
conduct rising to the level of maliciousnegsxatiousness or bad faith warrant section
1927 sanctions; negligence — eygnss negligence — is not enouglil”’ at 654. Bad faith
exists when an attorney “kmangly or recklessly raisesfavolous argument, or argues a
meritorious clainfor the purpose diarassing an opponeiitld. (internal citations
omitted). To impose sanctions unadection 1927, a district court must point to specific
evidence of maliciousness, vexatiousness, or bad Fith.

B. Analysis

Defendants assert that tBemplaint was filed in bad ith because “the ‘personal
capacity’ nature of the Compldirs a pure fiction” that Waetronix would not pursue if
the Bankruptcy Court had gradté leave to sue Myers in hadficial capacity. (Dkt. 11,

p. 21). Defendants conclude tlcause of “the lack of any legal or factual basis for the
filing of the Complaint, Plaintiffs have &rly brought these claims for an improper,
unreasonable and vexatious purpose . ld..at 22. Wavetronix makes no mention of
section 1927, and offers no response to Dad@ts’ contention that the Complaint was
filed in bad faithSee Mem. in Opposition of Motion for Sancti@dkt. 32).

Despite Wavetronix’s non-response, Defants fail to point to any conduct on the
part of Plaintiffs’ counsel that would rise tioe level of maliciousness, vexatiousness, or
bad faith. Even taking as true Defendantmitention — that Wavetronix had no intention
of pursuing claims against Myers in his pearapacity — it doesot necessarily follow

that Plaintiffs’ counsel engaged in maliciausvexatious behavior that was designed to
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harass the Defendants. Without more, noemeclusions that counsel’s conduct is
vexatious is insufficient to impose sanctignssuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1927. Therefore,
Defendants’ motion for sanctiomsider section 1927 is denied.

ORDER

In accordance with the Memorammd Decision set forth above,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the motion for satiens (Dkt. 11) is GRANTED
IN PART AND DENIED IN PART.It is granted to the exterttseeks sanctions pursuant
to Rule 11. It is denied tihhe extent it seeks sanctigmsrsuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1927.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the partisubmit briefing within 14 days from
entry of this decision regarding: (1) whet monetary sanctions should be imposed
against both Plaintiffs’ and their counsel,amly against counsel; and (2) the appropriate
amount and nature of that sanction (e.g.na payable to the court, a reprimand, or
reasonable attorneys’ fe€'s).

JsTATES o DATED: March 29, 2013

B. L@Wmmm
Chief Judge
United States District Court

! According to Wright and Miller. “[tlhe 1993 revimi [to Rule 11] makes it clear that the main purpose
of Rule 11 is to deter improper behavior, not tmpensate the victims of it or punish the offender.”
Wright & Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure, Civil 3d 8§ 1336.3 (3d. ed. 2004). The Court asks the
parties to keep this in mind when proposing a remedy.
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